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CASA de ESTUDILLO
(Sunmery by Esther Harlan)

‘Three generations of important Spanish Call-
fornian family made their home in Casa de Estudillo. The
place is rich in historical background, and 1s often polint-
ed out erroneously, as Ramona's Marrlage Place.

Don Jose Maria Estudillo, s, Who came to the New Worl

from Spain in 1787, was the founder of the Estudillo famlly

in California, The son of an army offlcer, he served 1in
Lower Callifornia from 1796 1806, Promoted to lieutenancy,
he was stationed for twenty years at Monterey and in 1827
was made captain of the Presidio of San Diego, where he died
three years later,

Of his several sons, Don Jose Antonio and Don Jose
Joaquin had the more notable careers, the latter settling
in the San Franclsco bay region. It was Don Jose Antonio
who built Casa de Estudillo in San Diego for his bride, Dona

Meria Victoria Domihguez, whom he married in 1825, He held

e number of responsible officlal positions during the Mexlcan
occupation and under American administretion, While he was
treasurer and assistant collector of revenue (1828«1830) he
and hls slster were granted the Otay rancho. In 1833, he

was elected one of the seven members of the diputacién, the

provincial legislature, a nd was the third alecalde of pueblo




San Diego after its incorporation in 1835,

During the struggle between northern and southern
political factions, Don Antonio organized the San Dlego
detachments which took part in ite When the northern
forces were victorious in 1838, however, and General Castro
‘arrested several of the southern leaders, Don Antonio con-
trived to escape by hiding in a loft. He remainmed neutral
f‘durinSOQCupatioﬁ'by United States troops and later was
'made town treasurer and county assessor under the new ad-
‘ministrationo ‘ _

- Before hisdeath.i? 1852, Don Antonio had acquired
a4large emount of property, including a silver mine in
Mexico and a number of land grants in different parts of
Californis, thus laying the foundatlion of the Estudillo
family fortune. Three generations of the family lived in
the house Don Antonio had built. Though its extaribr wes
not particularly attractive - & whitewashed recteangle with
small barred windows and but few doorweys in the thick
adobe wall =~ comfort and even luxury marked its interilor.
Bulilt around a spacious patio - 130 feet by 75 foet =
there were twelve rooms and a chapele Most of its furniture
was of mahogeany and rosewocod from Honduras and Chiapas forests,
brought out as ballast by Yankee hide ships and fashloned
into massive chairs, beds, tebles, by mission Indians. There
was a fountain in the patio; and the flower garden and sur-

rounding shrubbery were notable.




With the real estate boom of the '60s and '70s,
this old house - as was all the 0ld Town - was overshadowed
by New San Diego, though it continued to be the home of one
or another of Don Antonlo's sons until 1887, The careteaker
~then left in charge allowed sightseers (for a consideration)
to take away souvenirs - e plece of silver plate fashioned
from ore brought from the Mexlcan mine, quaint ébor keys of
hand-wrought iron - anything they fancled. The whole place
was gradually dismentled.

In 1910, John D. Spreckels donated generously toward
restoration of the house, the work beling supervised by Mrs,.

Fazel W, Watermane The casa is now a nmuseune.
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LA CASA DE ESTUDILLO

(Ramona's Marriage Place)

HOuses seem, oltentimes, not only to inalCate the
state o” the owner® 'Material wealth, but to take on aspects
of his character. They seem also to ref“ect pa glories or
.mis“ortuﬁeS'whlcn,tbeir inhebitants exper ienced La Casa of
the San Diego branch of the Estudillo family has that qual=
i%y. It has the serenec appearance of a patriarch who has _
drunk his cup of Life to the dregs and is savoring the draught

in dreams of long ago.

‘The founder of the Lstudillo family in Californisa

was Jose Maria Estudillo. Sorn in Spain in 1772, he came
to the New World inil78?. Being the son of an olfTicer, it
was natural that he should take up arms as a profession. He

served as soldado distinguido and cadet in Lower Californis

from 1796 to 1806. Promoted to the rank of lieutenant, he
was sent to lMonterey where he remained for twenty years. In
1827, he was made cantain of the Presidio of San Diego, Where
he died three years later. Although his career was of some
importance, his greasest honor lay in the fact'that he was
the founder of "one of the best of the old families as Jjudged

by the average prominmnce and character of 1ts mewners"
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Although there were several sons of Jose Maria,
tWwo were of especial prominence, Don Jose Antonio and Don
Jose Jozgquin. Both hadﬁeminentcareers, but at oprosite
ends of alta’California¢ Don Joaquln settled on San Fran-
cisco Bay after his service in the nortnern presidio while

Don Antonio kept his %@Slaence in San Diego. It was Don

t
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Antconio who built Le casa de Estudillo.

The presidic at San Diego had comprised the en=-

tire settlement there from its founding in 1769 until after

the turn of the century. All habitations had been inside
the presidio walls. After 1800, however, quarters were
crowded so that some families began to live in huts outside,

probably near the little garden plots which the soldiers

maintained. There had been'two reéasons for not building

there before: San Diezo was g fort, not a pueblo; and there

was the cver-present fear of Indian attacks. A list dated
1821 showed that at least five small houses had been con-

structed near or>anouna the place which was later the town
pl&Zd.d
Decay of the presidio and increase of commercial

prosperity hastened building operations to such an extent

that by

tne time another decade hag passea a respeciable
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beginning had been m=de on the :own. The visitor Duhaut-
Cilly wrote in 1827, when he made port, that "below the pre=-
sidio on a dandy plain, are scattered thirty to forty houses

- Of POOT appearance, and some badly cultivated gardens.ﬂz

iven though the French ses captain was not very much im-

 HE

pressed by the young settlement, several of the dwellings
might almost have been called edifices. Amongfrhe largest
was the house erected by Don Antonio for his bride Dona lMaria
Vietorie Dominguez, whom he married in 1825.

Don Jose Antcnio Estudillo has been pictured as a
man of excellent character. It is certain that in his later
yéars he had a great many friends ang exerted a wide sphere
of influence throughout the southern part of Alta California.
His career as a public official was long and honorable. He

feld official positions, not only during Mexican occupation,

but also under American a&ministration.

The education hereceived'as'a youth was very good
for the time and country. His public career began when he
was twenty-two years of age. Ee was listed as a candidate
for treasurer in 18&7, when Governor Hcheandia was trying to
depose the comisario sent by the Mexican,government, HOW=

ever, Don Antonio refused, as did the two other candidates,

Wit 5 o

3¢ A. Duhaut-Cilly, "Duhaut-Cilly's account of Galifornia in
the yeers 1827-1828", in Californis Historical Society
suarterly, WITI, 3:215. . |




inted to the post end that
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TO0 serve. 1In 1828 he was apnoj
‘time he zccepted it. 4t the same time he was assistant
collectox*of revenue under Don Jusn Bandini. He filled
botL positions until 1830. It was during his term of of-

fice that he and his'si ster were granted the Otay rancho.

'®)

In.18”” he was elected as one of the seven mem-~

G}

bers of the diputacion, the nrovineial ass

iiput : blyﬁ TWo years

later he was second on the list of seniority when the gov-

ernor wes foreced to turn his office over to the senior mem-

ber bvecause cof illvh@alﬁh. since Carrillo, the senior vecal,
was absent in Mexieo, the choice would ordinarily have fallf*
en to Qon.antOnio. However, the latter had'been excused

from the current session because of sickness, so the office

was given to Senor Castro, the third voeal i4n renk.  Don

Antonio's illness was cured extraordinarily'fast;’while he
andhis friends protested the choice of Castro. There was
~some unpleasant feeling between north and south becsuse of
this occurrence, but nothing Seriousresa.zlted.4
Don.aﬁmanic*@ es the third alcalde of the pueblo of
Sen Diego after it'wag formed in 1835. He served in his
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duly elected capacity for a year. When the government de-

clded that the pueblo was too small to have an alcalde, he
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Was appointed jJjuez de paz in 1838. Those years also marked
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the pernod O struggles between the southern part of uhe

province and the northern. mstudillo supported Don Curlos'
Carrillo, the "prefender” of the south, against Governor

Alverado. There is little indication that Estudillo took

part in any of the sicij

mishes; he was probably busy with
:munieipal effalrs. He did, however, organize the San Diego
detechments that were sent. n 1838, when the northern
'oaruj'wau victorious and Genersl Castro arrested several

of the southern leaders in S
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Dlego, Don antonio escaped
by hiﬁimg in a loft. There wa$ a proposed rescue party,
which he led, to free the prisorers at San Luis Rey. The A
evicence is somewhat confl icting because, while he evidently
went near the place, no rescue was effected. oome accounts

say that the prisoners decided ageinst the project: others

declare that all prepz rations were made but that ustudillo
ot | O

failed*to‘anaear. « The searcity of evidence at hand pre-
vents any corxalusion as to the correctness of either story.

Donwantonlo continued serV1n& his city and county

until his death in 1852. RBut ernnough has been given to indi-

cate the high lights of his careep. buring

the occupation
of California by the United States, he remained neutral

thmwughout the coneroversy. The last off101al POSTS



which he held were under the new administration when he was
town treasurer and county assessor.
All during these years, he had been acquiring land.

By the time of his Geath, he had laid the foundation for the

L_ ﬁ

istudillo family“fo rtune. He owned property in San Diego:
his grait of Otay haufglreaay deen mentioned; Temecula was
given him; property at San Juan Capistraro was ‘acquired in
1841l; in 1842, he was the grantee of San Jacinto. ‘

- While Don Antonio's public life was interesting
and of value to his country, his private llfe'was no less

hono rable. Since it revolved around his casa, an under-

standing of it throws light on the man himself. There he

brought his bride. There he laid his mother and ifather 1o
rest. Fis numerous children were born and brought up in
1ts environs. There he went for comfort and respose Whel

life outside became<too trylnb.

- The Estudillo house was built 1in a manner worthy
of its owner. Constructea around a patio which it inclosed
.on three sides, the buildlng faced north on the plaza. Tt
contaznew some twelve rooms ana a chapel with walls of adobe

5
tWo Go four feet thick. The outs ide presented a rather
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blank appearance; 1t was a walled sguare pierced by few door-
ways, small windows and one large douvble gate in the patio'
wall. whltewash made 1t stand out from its burraundlngs. A
veranda of WO@d ran elong the north side, the part which
fronted the plaza. On the mrtheast corner of the house was'
a sSguare tower'of tWwo decks. The first or lower valcony
resved directly on the columns of the veranda while the up-
ber deck was attached to the “oof ol the house. Access‘was
g:g&l"id& by a stairway wrich led from ‘che veranda through the
first to the second platform. Cver all was a tiled, octa-
gona 1 romf. 1t was to this cuaola‘tnas the young people of
the town would gather with their guitars and viols. Tt wes
also a favorite point ol vantage for spectators when special
events occurred inthe plaza. From there were watched the
bullfights, bear-baitings and parades which took place on

zest ive occasions.7

Tradition declares that the beams for the house

were cut in the Cuyamaca mounta ins, then were lii%eé to fthe

shoulders of Indian porters who carried them forty miles to
the place where they were to be used. Projecting through
the walls the wugh ends cast interesting shadows on the

5 -

these {imbers and forming the "shed™
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type rocf were red tiles. Rawhide was used to bind the

deams together, for there were no nails,to beé had. The roof

sloved toward the outside on & 1 three fachadas, and pre-

sented a sheer face on the inside wall. It was agalnst taese

faces trit the roof of the corridors leaned. iooden bars,

there were Tfew of iron in Al """ a California, secured the win-

dows whicn gave onto the street.

a

The interior arrangerent was one which gave com=-

fort and speciousness. In the &esu'miﬁﬁ Were the sleepir

i

rooms with their little built-in niches ror Iisures of

saints. The east wing was composed of sala, reception rooms,

dining room, kitchen and servants' rTooms. The kitchen was

at the furthermost extremity of the wing and served for a

Servants' dining hall as well. Although many Californig

houses did not have fecilities Lor interior cocking, the kit~

chen of la casa de Estudillo had

& magnificent open fire-

place. i/ith the hearth vwo feet above the floor proper, it

Was large enough to roast a whole sheep. All of the roons

were floored with wide tile except the sala, which had a

wooden floor for dances.

There is an interestin ng.note, lefy by a visitor,s

A [® in California auring a residence of
S€ | that territor , comorising a descrip-

‘_ - Lo SIS UPRSR e W W
tion gj;" 'tu. tae co ’mt:tw and the missionary establisnm ents,

with incidents, O bse “VublO*.;.:: etc.
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on the esrrangement of some of the Troom

an egent for an eastern trading house,

S. 4lfred Robinson,

lived in the house

for several months in 1836.

The family in which I now resided at
Sam Diezo consisted of the old lady
Dominguez, Don Jose Antonio Zstudillo,
and his wife Dons Victoria with two
children end three servants.... Iy
new lLodgings unitortunately had no di-
rect communication with the street
€xcept oy a smal 1 window, so nmy cus-
tomers were compelled to bass Through
the sala and sleeping aparitment ere
they eould get access to my place of
business. |

- Important parts Or the early California houses
Were the patios amd their gardens, around which the dwellings
Wwere built. The one in the studillo house was large; it

measured wbous seventy-rive feet wide by one hundred and

¥
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LAERT Lot 10u8: HMinuing amounc 411 the inmer sides bf tie
house was an open corridor floored with tilss. There in the
Pleasant Surroundings many of the household activities took
placé - &S well as encertainment of guests., Flowers, trees

and shrubs in profusion del ighted the €ye ol the visitor when

he entered, and cooled the A1r 1n the hot afternoons. A

fountain in the middle of the inner or family patio threw a

Sparkling stream of water which tinkled into a larsze basin at
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baked Wes placed inside.

’ The outer patio, which was envered by the "herd-
man's gete" rrom the imer one, was used for the heavier
work of the household. Here were situated the olive press
and similar bule utuﬁillss A frame WOTK, Tor many yeafs,

oy
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fhe institution of the patio had another im ifsle ortant fuactio .

\ e B - a7 o e whe Yoo I %f“:; \ 'P kW4
VO every roonm 1n the HOuUsSe, 10r
G

all had windows or doors openir g . onto. the court. Though

bhex& WE T e'wrouw“t Liron locks on the doors, they rusted from.
disuse.

Or the house were conceived on the

Furnia
sane laV'Sh c‘c:;al as tie casa. The Es iual&lo femily owned.
a silver;mine.locateﬁ somewhere in Mexico. Silver bullion
was sent to smiths in Mexico City, where the lar ge, heavy,
orna te service was made to order. The furniture was con-
'str*:;é_cted of mahogany and rosewocod which had been cut in the
Lorests of Chiapaslanﬁ Eonduras. Used as ballast in Yankee

t0o California and

hide ships, the wood had been

nere converted into massive furniturec by mission Indians. A
10

s

single chair was &s nuch as 2 stur dy man-servant could 1ift.
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For three génerations, the house witnessed the

Lile of the bstudillo family and of San Diego. It saw the
passing ofth@oldorder and the coming of the new. when
Alonzo Eorton began the real estate boom which founded New _
San Diego, 1in the '60s ang *70s, the o0ld house ané’Old Town
feil out of the Way ol the exciting advance ofbusinesslife,’
dhile it served as residence for Don Jose Guaéalu@eaﬁﬁ later
Don 3alvador, both sons of Don Antonio, it was beginning al=-
ready to live with i1%s memories. In 1887, Don Salvador aban-
doned it to tie tender mercies of a faithless caretvaxer and
took up his residence in Los angeles.

‘ Tre early history made it & legitimate landmark
for sightseers. The caretaker was glad to show tourists
around for a amall sum. More than that, if the price was

made higher, the visitor coul: take, as a souvenir, anything
he desired, from a piece of silver plate to the huze hang-

wrought iron keys for the rusted locks. Such treatment was

devastating, and soon the proud ola casa was little more

than & r™iin.
Recognition of its once honorable state came in

S’

1910, when John D. Spreckels donated & nerously for the pro-
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timbers and lintels. caresa, a marsh reed, brought from the
Cuyamace region, was used for s roofing foundation. To re~
pPlace the tiles which were missing, an Indian pottery.makerh
was imported from Mexico. Gaps in the petio were filled by

tiles fwam'the 0ld mis:

{f}

ion aqueduct, which dates from about
LTi0e O ‘€€ more the beams were bound with rawhide. The wood-

work @howe& the effects of hand labor. The patio was ;re-

e

plarted =nd is once more a riot of color as in the days of
o1d.11

Vislitors and tourists from far-off lands now walk
where Don Antonio and his esposa, Dona Vicﬁoria,iwere wont
‘%o stroll, for the casa is now = museum. The present owner,
Mr. Getz, has continued addine o the collection until to~
day it coatains Some unlque artvicles of early California
nistory. Among the most notewor thy are belongings of Horton,
in the Horton room; a shrine from San Miguel Mission near
Loreta, 3aja C&lllOrﬁia, and an old Spanish treasure chest
_whicn oeion ed to Don antonio.

There is one morc phase of the history of the Estu~
dillo house which must be discuased. fhis is the persistent
out erronecous belief th&t 1t was the marriage place of Ra
mona, the heroine of Helen Hunt Jackson's novel. It s bet~
ter knOWﬂ by the false title, "Ramona's Marriag rlace,”

1l. Rider, Guidebook, 601.




than by its more staid but legitimate name. Mueh ink has

beern spilled in arguments as to whether 1t was the real

marriage place or the prototype of the heroine, but the

facts heve been so obscureg with legend that it is impos~

sible to tell truth from fiction. But what is the dir-

lerence? THe 0ld house witnessed fany romantic episodes.

' dould Don Antonio, with his courteous manners, object 4o

1ts veing made the scene of such & happening? Nada! Never!
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